
·-

l\epublic of tbe i)bilippines 
~upreme ClCourt 

;fflanila 

EN BANC 

ATTY. MERRIAM FE G. ROJAS, A.C. No. 13496 

- versus -

Complainant, [Formerly CBD Case No. 18-
5681] 

Present: 

GESMUNDO, CJ, 
LEONEN, 
CAGUIOA, 
HERNANDO, 
LAZARO-JAVIER, 
INTING, 
ZALAMEDA, 
LOPEZ, M.,* 
GAERLAN, 
ROSARIO, 
LOPEZ, J., 
DIMAAMPAO, 
MARQUEZ, 
KHO, JR., and 
SINGH,JJ. 

ATTY. LOVEJOY B. 
QUIAMBAO, 

PERCURIAM: 

• On Official Leave 

Respondent. 
Promulgated: 

June 4, 2024 
...-:::=:::::,, 



Decision A.C. No. 13496 [Formerly CBD 
Case No. 18-5681] 

Before the Court is a verified Complaint-Affidavit1 (Complaint) for 
disbarment filed by Atty. 11erriam Fe G. Rojas ( complainant) against 
respondent Atty. Lovejoy B. Quiambao (respondent). 

The Antecedents 

On September 15, 2017, the Integrated Bar of the Philippines 
(IBP) - Commission on Bar Discipline (IBP-CBD) received the verified 
Complaint executed by complainant.2 

Complainant averred the following: 

Complainant and respondent (collectively~ the Spouses) are 
members of the Protestant faith. On March 20, 2005, they took each other 
as husband and wife before a reverend of the Baptist Church in Cebu 
City.3 During their marriage, the Spouses shared a law firm, which was 
annexed to their conjugal house. Although the Spouses did riot have any 
children, complainant supposedly performed the role of a supportive wife 
by managing their law firm, doing research work for their clients, and 
reviewing pleadings. Furthermore, she augmented the family income 
through a small store b-µsiness that she established,, wherein she sold 
several beauty and cosmetic -products and also provided photocopying 
services.4 

On October 26, 2016, complajnant learned from their house helper, 
AAA,5 an 18-year-old vvcirking student,' that respondent had sexually 
abused AAl\. According to AA._A, while she was working for the Spouses 
beginning August 2016, respondent cupped her breasts, showed her 
pornographic photos and videos, offered to te:ach her sexual intercourse, 
masturbated in her presence, an<l offered her PHP 1,000.00 if she touched 
his penis. 6 • 

1 Rolle, pp. 3..:.12. 
2 Id. at 1-2. 
3 Id at 57. 
4 See Petition for Legal ~eparaa{';,J: id. m 4'i-.'i6. 
5 In line with Suprl"me Court Amended Ad:dnisir•:iiive Circ..il@ No. 83-2015 dated September 5, 

2017, titled "Protocols ai".ld P:rcc,xhirc-, in the Promulgation,: Publication, and Posting on the 
Websites of Decisions, Final Rosoiu.tions, ai1d final Orders C:sing Fictitious Names/Personal 
Circumstances," the Ha.'llcS of the offended par:ies, :ilong with a.il other personal circumstances that 
may tend to establish. their ident1ti<.:-s, are made confidential to protect their pr.ivacy and dignity. 

6 Id. at 13-17. 
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Complainant purportedJy. 9onfronted respondent about AAA's 
revelations. During their discussion, respondent admitted that he was 
hooked on pornography an.d could not stop himself from using it. The 
Spouses then agreed that respondent needed psychological intervention; 
thus, respondent started seeing a psychiatrist in Cagayan de Oro for help.7 

. . 

Still, complainant continued investigating her husband by meeting 
with and interviewing the.Spouses' former employees. Complainant was 
then horrified to· discover that aside from AAA, respondent also sexually 
abused at least 13 other former employees, who worked for the Spouses 
as house helpers, secretaries, and/or storekeepers. Of these 13 women, two 
were allegedly minors,· aged 16 and 17 years old.· Complainant further 
averred that respondent had sexual relations with a certain BBB, their 
former law secretary, a daughter of a pastor.8 

Aside from AAA, several of the women, who were allegedly 
sexually abused by respondent, executed their Judicial Affidavits which 
were attached to the verified Complain~, _ 

One of the alleged women-victiins, CCC~ stated in her Judicial 
Affidavit9 that she was e1nployed by the Spouses as a house helper 
sometime in July 2015 until May 2016 and worked for them in such 
capacity for nine months., Supposedly, during her employment, 
respondent insisted that she drink tequila with him. CCC was allegedly 
constrained _to oblige respondent. She then felt dizzy after a few tequila 
shots. When CCC regained consciousness, she felt respondent's penis 
inside her vagina. After the i...-ricident, respondent repeatedly raped her and 
even forced her to give.him oral sex .. Ac.cording. to CCC, she felt trapped 
in the situation because the Spouses were k.11.9wn lawyers in their 
community, and she thought that nobody would bel'ieve her if she reported 
respondent. Further, CCC's family was indebted to the Spouses in the 
amount of PHP 9,000.00; being poor, CCC felt that she had to continue 
working for the Spouses so that her family could repay their debt and she 
could continue her schooling. 

DDD the law $CcretaJy of respondent, asserted a similar experience 
in her Judicial Affidavit.10 She averred that she has. been the law secretary 
of the Spouses sinye August 2009 and that du.ring her employment, 
respondent r~peat0diy show.ed_ her. ph(?_tog:raphs • of b.is penis. Respondent 

7 Id at 4. 
8 Id. at 5-6. 
9 Id. a:t 30-34. 
10 Id. at 38-42. 
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even asked DDD if she thought that his _penis was large. On multiple 
occasions, she also saw respop.dent watchjng pornographic videos in the 
law office; in some instances, r~spondent even asked DDD to watch the 
materials with him. 

In ·addition to_ CCC, AAA, .pDD, and other former employees of 
the Spouses. also ex:ecuted. the~r: . .J1~dicial Affidavits in support of the 
present Complaint: ( 1) EBE, 11 who served as house helper of the Spouses 
in 2009, averred~that while she was employed by the Spouses, respondent 
grabbed her breasts, showed her pornographic vid,eos, and sent to her 
phone several photos of respondent's penis; (2) FFF, 12 former store keeper 
of the Spouses, who mentioned that during her employment from 2012 to 
2014, respondent exhibited his penis to her, pushed and stroked his penis 
against her butt, and even appeared before her completely naked; and (3) 
GGG, 13 former photocopy machine operator for the Spouses from 2014 to 
2015, who stated that during her employment, respondent slapped her butt 
and repeatedly invited her out for drinks. Notably, both BEE and FFF 
mentioned in their respective Judicial Affidavits that they felt constrained 
to soldier through respondent's behavior because they were working 
students and they both needed their .salary -from. the Spouses to continue 
their schooling. 

Complainant's • discoveries about her husband's infractions 
prompted complainant to file before the Regional Trial Court of Butuan 
City {RTC Butuan) a petition for the issuan_ce of protection orders.14 The 
RTC Butuan granted her petition and issued. the Pennanent Protection 
Order15 (PPO) dated Febrl)ary 28, 2017, in her favor. Notably, among the 
directives of the RTC Butuan was tor respondent to "seek and receive 
professional counseling from. agencies or persons who have demonstrated 
expertise and experience in treating sex offenders .... "16 

In addition to the PPO, complainant also fill;}d a petition17 for Legal 
Separation before tlw RTC of Cabadba.ran City, Agusan del Norte (RTC 
Cabadbaran): Eventuallv, the RTC Cabadbaranrendered its Judgment on 
Compromise Agreemeiit1? '.on Jvlarch 20, 2018; wherein it approved the 
settlement agreement rea(~hed by the Spouses during mediation. In their 
agreement, complainant and n~spondent di$solved and allocated their 
properties belonging to th,~ir absolut~ corrmiunit"j. 

11 Id. at 18-22. 
12 Id. at 23-26. 
13 Id. at 27-'2,9. 
14 Id. at 9. 
15 Id. at 45--46. 
16 Id. at 46. 
17 Id. at47-56. 
18 Id. at 178 -181. Penn.~d by Presiding Judg,~ Ft:tni,,l;"i.Co R • Fadala..ri, Jr. 
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In its Order19" dated May 28, 2018, the IBP-CBD directed 
respondent to file his verified·ap~w.er t9 the Complaint. 

ill ms • verified, An~vver,2°. rcsponcJent admitted several of 
complainant's allegations against him. Particularly, respondent admitted 
that (a) he showed AAA arid DDD several pornographic photographs and 
videos;21 (b) while being :µiarried to complainant, he had sexual relations 
with BBB, his former law secretary, on at least two occasions; and (c) 
despite his marriage to complaimmt, he had consen~ual sexual relations 
with CCC twice, but he denied torcing himself on her.22 

With respect to his sexuai relations with BBB, respondent insisted 
that it was BBB who seduced him by first engaging in "dirty dancing" 
with him. Their dancing eventually led to kissing and petting, prompting 
respondent to fa+rriedly buy a condom from a nearby gas station before 
engaging in sexual intercourse with BBB.23 

As to his sexual relations with CCC, respondent similarly averred 
that CCC told him·that she was willing to have sexual relations with him. 
On one occasion, the two of them drank tequila together, leading to petting 
and kissing. Respondent again had to run to the nearest gas station to buy 
a condom before engaging in sexual intercourse with CCC.24 

. , -. ' •. _.. . - ~ ; 

Respondent likewise admitted in his .. Answer that he and 
complainant had a confrontation about his sexual relations with other 
women which eventually led to the issuance of a PPO by the RTC Butuan. 
In his email correspondence ... with complainant,. respondent sought 
forgiveness from complainant .for his infidelity a,nd indiscretions, 
promising complainant that he will continue seeking spiritual advice and 
counseling for his condition: 

First of all, let m.e ask you again.for forgiveness for my infidelity and 
my indiscretions. I o-ffei".no .excuse for ,.vhat I had dcne a;nd I am fully 
aware how they have o,iused so much pairt, distres5~, anguish and shame 
to you, out families &'1.d people who .:i.re deeply concerned ,vith us, 
especially our .church. I am not takLng lightly these things, which will 
probably haunt me fo_r the rest of nw life._ I knoyv iha.t there is someone 

19 Id at 98. 
20 Id at 107-l32. 
21 Id at 111. 
22 Id at ll 1-I12. 
23 Id. at 114-115. 
24 Id. at 115--116, 
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out there who knows what lurks in mv heart and who knows how to 
restore me. Please know that all these times that I am away, I have not 
been in any situation that placed me in a deeper trouble than that which 
I am already ili. · • • 

The second.thing-I w~t to convey to· you,is our situation. If given the 
chance to·makeus·whole again, I will fake that opportunity. How and 
in what manner, it would probabl[y] take long but I will go through the 
process of -submitting myself to professional/psychiatric intervention 
and spiritual counseling/interces_sion. As I have stated in my email, I 
will continue seeing my doctor in CDO, supposedly starting last Friday 
for my first therapy session, which I failed to attend for financial 
reasons .... 25 

As -to the averrnents of FFF, EBE, and GGG, respondent denied 
their allegations against hun. He mentioned that he may have discussed 
"green" things with FFF and GGG, but only because they were being 
natural and spontaneous with their conversation. As to EEE, he averred 
that she was the one who would invite him out for drinks and that she 
voluntarily watched pornographic materials without his prompting.26 

Complainant ;responded t9 the verified Answer by filing her Reply­
Affidavit, 27 wherein she highlighted respondent's admissions on his extra­
marital sexual relations with other women and insisted that respondent 
must be held administratively liable for his conduct. Complainant added 
that during their marriage,· respondent engaged. in sexual relations with a 
certain HHH, l;l. postal office clerk, with whom respondent had two 
illegitimate children. In support of her allegations} complainant attached 
several photos28 showing respondent and HHH appearing in public 
functions together with their child. Supposedly, the photos were taken in 
April 2017, just a few months after the PPO was issued in complainant's 
favor. 

The lBP.:CBD., through Investigating Commissioner Atty. 
Carmelita E. Reyes-Eleazar (Investigating Commissioner), scheduled the 
case for mandatory conference on Novem.ber 14, 2019, and directed the 
parties to submit their·· respectiv~ preliminary conference briefs.29 

However, only respondent tiled his Prefouinary Conference Brief3° and 
attended the mandatory confere:nce. 

25 Id at 119-120. 
26 Id. at 125-127. 
27 Id. at 201-205. 
2~ Id. at 206. 
29 Id at21$-219. 
30 Id. at 220-224. · 
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Notably, during ~he mand~to:cy ~;nforen~e, re~pondent mentioned 
that complainant_ was already a: vice-_corisul -stationed in -Taiwan which 
explained her absence during the ·mandatory conference.31 He further 
mentioned that complainarit filed a petition for the annulment of their 
marriage, V{hich was supposediy granted:32 Respondent also repeated his 
admission that he had sex4al relations ·with other women despite his 
marriage to complainant: • 

COJ\,1M. ELEAZAR: 

So ano ang defense mo dito0 Attorney? 

ATTY. QUIAMBAO: 

Actually, Ma'm (sic), I have admitted some allegations especially the 
extra marital affairs and iwo incidents of showing some nude 
photographs to my workers but the rest of the allegations I denied it. 

COMM. ELEAZAR: 

ATTY. QUIAMBAO: 

And basically niy Answer just asked for leniency not to be imposed the 
maximum or ultimate penalty ... 

COMM. ELEAZAR: 

Ultimate penalty of disbarment.. 

ATTY. QUIA1,.1BAO: 

Yes, Ma'm [sic].33 

In addit1on, respondent mentioned that when he asked his former 
employees about the reason why they executed· their respective Judicial 
Affidavits iii suppori·ofthe Complaint, the former employees stated that 
they only felt pity for complainant. 34 

31 Id. at 230--231. 
32 Id. at 229. 
33 [d. 

-
34 Id. at 232 • 
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The !BP 's Repo:t qnd R_ecommendation 

In the Report and Recomrhendation35 dated June 22, 2020, the 
Investigating Commissioner found respondent guilty of committing 
Grossly Immoral Conduct and recommended his disbarment in 
accordance with Section 27,36 Rule 1J8 of the Rules of Court. 
Investigating Commissioner Atty. Carmelita R. Eleazar noted 
respondent's own admissions, particularly, that he engaged in sexual 
infidelity, had extra-marital relations despite his marriage to complainant, 
and showed lewd or pornographic materials to his workers on several 
occasions. 37 

• In the Resolution No. CBD-2021-04-0338 dated April 10, 2021, the 
IBP Board of Governors adopted and approved the :findings and 
recommendation of the Investigating Commissioner to impose upon 
respondent the penalty of disbarment from the practice oflaw after fmding 
the same to be supported by the evidence on record, and the applicable 
laws and rules.39 

Respondent filed his Motion for Reconsideration, 40 insisting that 
the recommended penalty against hin1 must be reduced. He argued that 
HHH was not simply a woman whom he impregnated because, after his 
marriage to complainant was allegedly annulled, he subsequently married 
HHH on June \ 2021. In support of his argument, respondent attached his 
Marriage Certi:ficate41 to Hfll-I and several photographs of their 
wedding. 42 Respondent opined that his relationship to HHH and their two 
children together have been legitimized. 

In her Comment,43 complainant prayed for the denial of 
respondent's Motion for Reconsideration. She averred that respondent's 
marriage to HHH on Jun~ 5, 2_021, was immaterial because he had been 

35 Id at 255-259. 
36 RULES OF COURT, Rule 138, sec. 27 provides: 

SECTION 27. DL~barment or sµspension of attor,neys bji Supreme Court; grounds thereof. - A 
member of the bar may be disbarred or im~pended from.his office as attorney by the Supreme Court 
for any deceit, malpra<;tice, or other gross misconduct ii1 such office, grossly immoral conduct, or 
by reason of his conviction of a crime involving moral turpitude, or for any violation of the oath 
which he is r;;;quired to take before the admission t,; practice, or for a willful disobedience of any 
lawful order of a superior cqurt, or for corruptly or willful appearing as atl attorney for a party to a 
case without authority so to do. The practice of soliciting ca~es at law for the purpose of gain, either 
personally or through paid agents c;r bro"kers; constitutes malpractice. • 

37 Id. at257-259. 
38 Rollo, p. 253-254. 
39 Id. 
40 Id. at 260-:264. 
41 Id. at 267. 
42 Id at 275-276. 
43 Id at'.?,86--291. 
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cohabiting with HHH and_ pad tvv:o children with her even before his first 
marriage to complainant was supposedly dissolved. Complainant insisted 
that respondent's conduct amounted to gross immorality, warranting his 
disbarment -

In theResol~tion No. ·CBD-XX\T-2022-03-22,44 the IBP Board of 
Governors denied -the Motion for Reconsideration for lack of merit. . . . -

The Issue 

The is.sue before the Court is whether respondent should be held 
administratively liable for his actions. 

The Ruling of the Court 

After a careful review, the Court adopts and approves the findings 
and recommendation of the IBP, with modifications as to the designation 
of the offense and the penalties to be imposed upon respondent. 

Respondent engaged in Grossly Immoral 
Conduct, in violation of the Code of· 
Professional Responsibiljty and 
Accountability. • 

Preliminarily, the Court. clarifies that the Code of Professional 
Responsibility and Accountability (CPRA), which took effect on May 30, 
2023,45 applies to all pending cases, including the present administrative 
case pursuant t9 General Provisions Section_.1)46 ~_ereof. 

Canon II of the CPRA imposes the standard of propriety among 
lawyers and prohibits them from engaging in immoral conduct or 
behaving in a scandalou,.,··manne:r:, both in public and private life, as 
follows: 

44 Id. at 295. 
45 See Cowt Resolution da}e<l N0v::mbcr l<l, 2D~3. stating that the CPRA took effect on 

May 30, 2023. 
46 CODE OF PROP, RESPONSIBii,TTY & AC(:OUN'fABILITY, sec. 1 of the General Provisions 

provides: . . 
Sec. l. .Transitory Proyisirm. ---. Y:::." C:f\KA ,,halt be applied to all p(mding and future cases, except 
to the ex"tent that in the opinion c,f the_ Supreme Court, it,;; retroactive application would not be 
feasibie or would wQrk injustice, in , .. 'hi,:·h case the procedure under which the cases were filed 
shall govern. 
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A lavvyer shall, at all times, act with propriety and maintain the 
appearance of propriety in personal and professional dealings, observe 
honesty, __ respect ~d co_urte~y, and uphol~_ ~he dignity of the legal 
profession consistent with the highest standards of ethical behavior. 

SECTION 1. Proper Conduct. ~ A lavvyer shall not engage in 
unlawful, dishonest, immoral; or deceitfhl conduct. 

SECTION 2. Dignified Conduct. -·. A lawyer shall respect the 
law, the courts, tribunals, and other government agencies, their 
officials, employees, and processes, and act with courtesy, civility, 
fairness, and candor towards fellow members of the bar. 

A lawyer shall-not engage in conduct that adversely reflects on 
one's fitness to practice law, nor behave in a scandalous manner, 
whether in public or private life, to the discredit of the legal profession. 

In addition, Canon III, Section 2 of the CPRA requires lawyers to 
uphold the Constitution, obey the laws of the land, and promote respect 
for the laws: 

CANON III 
FideJtiy 

Fidelity pertains to a lawyer's duty to uphold the Constitution 
and the laws o;f the lanµ, to .asst~t in the administration of justice as an 
officer of the court, and to advance or defend a client's cause, with full 
devotion, genuine interest, and zeal in the pursuit of truth and justice. 

SECTION 2. Th.e Responsible and Accountable Lawyer. - A 
lawyer shall uphold the constitution, obt,y the Ja,,vs of the land, promote 
respect fo:r laws and leg:al proc_esses. sa.fogimrd human rights, and at all 
times advance the hono·r and ip_tegr;1;y of the legal profession. 

In relation to the aboYe, C~1non Vl, Section 33 (:f) of the CPRA 
defines the offense of Gres,dy hnmo::;al Conduct as "an act that is so 
corrupt or false as to constitute a criminal act, or so irmnoral as to be 
reprehensible to a high degree[.]" To be grossly immoral, the conduct 
must be "willful, flagrant, or . shf!.meless, and which shows a moral 
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indifference to the • opinion of the good and respectable members of the 
community."47 ·-

. . 

_With the foregciing cons1~eratio~~ the Court finds that respondent 
is guilty :of'four c<;>tinfs of G:ro~sly Il;rip1orai Conduct on the following 
grounds: (1) respondent flagrantly -engaged in extramarital relations with 
at least three women during the subsistence of his marriage to complainant 
and demonstrated a cavalier attitude towards his breach of his marital 
vows; (2) respondent sired-two illegitimate~ch:ildren with HHH, entered 
into a bigam.ous m·arriage With her, and publicly flouted their relationship; 
(3) respondent sexually harassed two of his employees and subordinates, 
AAA and DJ:?D, as supported by substantial evidence on record. 

First Count of Grossly Immoral Conduct: 
Respondent engaged in extramarital 
affairs with multiple women and flagrant{v 
disregarded Philippine laws on marriage. 

Among the well-recognized immoral conduct warranting 
disciplinary action against lawyers is the engagement in extramarital 
affairs because it offends the sanctity of marriage and violates Article XV, 
Section 2, of the 1987 Constitution48 which recognizes marriage as an 
inviolable social institution.49 The Court's stance against .extramarital 
affairs among members • of the Bar is _grounded on the continuing 
requirement for lawyers to possess good moral character, not only for 
admission to the Bar, but also to retain membership in the legal 
profession.50 :Verily, even if not all forms of extramarital relations are 
punishable under our penal laws, the sanctity of marriage is still 
constitutionally recognized and even affirmed by the Family Code as a 
special contract of perinanent union; thus, a breach of marital vows on 
fidelity is considered especially egregious when committed by a lawyer, 
whose duty51 is to apply and observe the law.52 

Still, whether ~ lawyer's engagement in extramarital affairs 
constitutes _ Grossly Immoral Conduct d}3pends on the attendant 

47 Cristobal v. Atty. CristDbal, 889 Phil. 5(,1, 5'78 (2020) lPer J. Carandang, En Banc], citing Obusan 
v. Obusan, Jr., 213 Phii. 437 (1984) !. Per J. Aquino, En Eanc]. 

48 CONST .. a.'ticle XV, Sf..C. 2., provicks: 
SECTION 2. Marri,3.gt:,, as an invfobbk0 :,(,cw.l institution, is tl1e foun<llition of the family and shall 
be protected by t.°l:1e State: • ' • • • 

49 Castillo-}.1aqD.usov. A.tfy.·custil!;,H,,s.·k, 856 Phil. :no, 240~24! (2,019) [ Per J. Reyes Jr., Second 
Division]. 

50 Id. 
51 See Canon Ill, sec. 2. . 
52 Castillo-Mucapuso v. _,-fa)·. Castil!,½J~,-~. ]J ·, W:r: Phil. 23(!, 242--243 (2019) [ Per J. Reyes Jr., Second 

Division]. 
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circumstances and prevailing norm.s of conduct.53 In such cases, the Court 
has meted out the extreme penalfy of disbarment for Grossly Immoral 
Conduct because-.the lawyer: (I) engaged in adulterous extramarital 
relations with a married wor;nan;54 (2) abanqoned his legal wife and their 
children to cohabit with ·his mistress;55 (3)- after leaving the conjugal 
abode, publicly flallllted his pa:r:amour,56 or sired several children with his 
mistress;57 (4) entered into a -subsequent bigamous marriage with his 
paramour-;5~. (5)_ ui:ia~ash~dly. admitted his e~tramarital affairs and 
demonstrated a cavalier a~ti~ude about thell!, _even making it appear that 
his behavior-was socially acceptable;59 an:d ·(6) abandoned his wife and 
simultaneously had illicit relations with two different women, with whom 
he had illegitimate children. 60 

. . 

With these in mind, the Court agrees with the IBP that respondent 
is guilty of Grossly Immoral Conduct for his blatant engagement in 
extramarital relations despite his marriage to complainant. 

Indeed~ in his submissions, respondent unabashedly admitted his 
infidelity and extramarital relations with at least three women, i.e., CCC, 
BBB, and HHH, despite -his subsisting • marriage to complainant. 
Respondent did not even hold back the sordid details of his sexual 
congress with CCC and BBB, even going so far as to disclose that he first 
engaged in "dirty dancing" with BBB before they had sexual intercourse, 
or that on at least two occas1011s, he had to scurry off to a gas station to 
purchase condoms pre-coitus with BBB and CCC. He likewise admitted 
to having sexual relations with HHH. even siring two children with her 
despite his marriage to complainant. 

It is. apparent from the narration above that respondent has 
demonstrated a cavalier attitude towards marriage.61 Respondent's own 
submissions to the Cou.rt illustrate how he wantonly engaged in 
extramarital relations with at least three women prior to his legal 
separation with complainant on-:N1arch 20, 2018, in utter disregard of his 
marital vow of fidelity to c0mplainant. 

Indee4 while respondent denied that he forced himself on CCC, he 
admitted that they had_ consensual sex despite his· marriage to 

53 Cristobal y_ A.tty. Cristobal, 889 Ph ii.' 56 L 6 78 (2O2Q) (Per ,l. Carandang, En Banc]. 
54 See Guevarra v. Atty. Eala, 555 Phil. 7T:=., 729 ('.:.007} [Per Ci1.riam, En Banc]; Atty. Ecraela v. 

Pangalangan, 769 Phil. 1, 15 (2015) [I'~r Curiam, En Ban,;J, .. • 
55 Arnobitv. Atty. Arnobtt., 590 Phil. 270,278 (2008) [Per Curiam, En Bc:tnc]. 
56 Guevarra-Casill v. A.tty. Trinidad, A.C No. 10294, July 12, 2022 [Per Curiam, En Banc]. 
57 Panagsagan v. Atiy. Panagsagan, 864 PhiI-. ·19, 27- (2019) !_Per Curiam, En Banc]. 
58 Dr. Perez v. Atty. Catirtdig, 755 phii. 29'-7, 3i..i9 (2015; [_!'er Curl.am, En Banc]. 
59 Atty. Saludares v. Atty. Saludarqs, A..C. No. i 06 iL, January· 31,, 2023 lPcr Curiam, En Banc]. 
60 Dantes v. Att.1- Dantes, 482 PhiL M; 1,i~-;5., (20{)<1)_ [Per Curfam, En Banc]. 
61 See Atty Saludares v. ,.4tty: Sr1ludctrcs. A f.'. Ko. HJ61'2, Janm1ry 31, 2023 [Per Curiam, En Banc]. 
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complainant. He likewise admitted that he had sexual relations with BBB 
and HHH duri:ngth~ subsistence of his marriage to complainant. The fact 
that respondent. ex~rted efforts to purcha:s·e condoms from a nearby gas 
station just so he cou!d have sexual intercourse with CCC and BBB, 
despite his marriage . to comp_\8:_Ufan~i i~. ~ufficient proof of his brazen 
disrespe~t of the laws· on marriage: His flagrant violation of the Philippine 
policies on marriage, • whi·ch is' recognized as an • inviolable social 
institution. that :rrnist. pe protect~d b,y the. St?,te,. constitutes one count of 
Grossly Immoral Conduct. · : ' · ; , ~. · - • 

Second Count of Gros~ly 1mmor-al 
Conduct: Respondent sired -two 
illegitimate children • .with -HHH, • 
contracted a bigamous marriage with her, 
and publicly flouted their relationship. 

To repeat, the Court has previously determined that a lawyer is 
guilty of Grossly Immoral Conduct when he publicly flaunts his 
paramour,62 sires several child.nm with her,63 or when he contracts a 
bigamous marriage with the paramour.64 All these circumstances are 
present in the case at bar. 

After the RTC Cabadbaran rendered its Judgment65 on March 20, 
2018 in the legal separation proceedings betv/een the parties, respondent 
married HH1{ on June 5, 2021. \Vith9ut a prior decree dissolving the 
marriage between respondent and complainant, the marriage between 
respondent ·and HHH is bigamous. Here, apart from respondent's bare 
allegations, the dissolution or annulment of his marriage to complainant 
is not supported by the records. At most, only a decree of legal separation 
supports respondent's allegation; however, under Article 6366 of the 

62 Guevarra-Castil v. Atty. Trinidad, AC:, No. 10294, J~ly 12, 2022 [Per Curiam, En Banc]. 
63 Panagsagan v. Atty. Panagsagan, 864 Phil. 19, 27 (2019) [Per Curiam, En Banc]. 
64 Dr. Perez v. Atty. Catindig, 755 Phil. W7, 308-309 (2015) [Per Curiam, En Banc]. 
65 Rollo, pp. 178--181. Penned by Presiding Judge Fernando R.. Fudalan, Jr. 
66 Article 63 of the Family Code proYides: 

ART. 63. The decree oflegal separ:,,tion sh:iH have 1:Iie fry1lowir1g effect5: 
(1) The spouses sh::!.11 be erititled·ro lhe c;Gpc.1.rn.tely from each ether, but the marriage bonds shall 

not be severed; 
(2) The absolute community or the co~mg:al parL:1er.ship shall be s.fo.solved and liquidated but the 

offending spouse shall have no ri~ht t,j any :ehare ot'·the n,:;t profits earned by the absolute 
community or the· ·conjugal parinership, which shall be forfeited in accordance with the 
provisions of A-rtk!e 43(2); • 

(3) The custody of the minor-chil<ln.:rt sh.Ji Le awarded to the innocent spouse, subject to the 
provisions of Article 213 ofthb Ct,de; ,~11d . . , . 

(4) The offending spouse siiall be disqmilffied fron:f inheriting frqm the innocent spouse by 
intestate succession. Moreover:. provisions in favor of the offending spouse made in the will 
of the innocent spo11se shall be revoked ,by 0peration oflavi. 
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Family Code,67 a decree of legal separation does not sever the juridical tie 
of marriage :and only allpws the spouses to dissolve their joint properties 
and live apartfro;m each·other. To emphasize, it is elementary that under 
the Family Code, "legal sepa:ra~ion does not dissolve the marriage tie, 
much less authoriz.~ the parties··10 ·rem.arry;"68 

.. -
Moreover, respondent flouted his violation of his marital vows by 

publicly appearing in sncfal gath~riljgs ,with HHH, his paramour. In fact, 
there are phot,9gra,ph~69

_ s~o~i:o:g· :tespond~nt with HHH and their children 
in public events, wI:iere resp()ndent \Vas seen with his arm wrapped around 
HHH. His wedding to HHI{was also celebrated publicly, i.e., in a church 
wedding and in the presence of several · persons, as seen in the 
photographs 70_ that respondent atta~hed to submissions. 

Respondent also admitted that he sired two illegitimate children 
with HHH. That the children were born during the subsistence of 
respondent's marriage to complainant is uncontested. Pertinently, in a 
long line of cases,71 the Court has reco~ized that antagonism. between 
legitimate and illegitimate faniily inem.bers m.ay develop, which is true in 
this case. In fact, complainant even included respondent's relationship to 
HHH and their two illegitimate children as one of the grounds for the 
imposition 9f administrative sanctions against respondent. 72 By causing 
such a situation to· arise, respondent's breach of the Philippine laws and 
policies on marriage must be characterized as grievous. 

Thus, respondent is guilty of a second count of Grossly Imm.oral 
Conduct for having engaged in extramarital relations with HHH, siring 
two illegitimate children with her, entering into a seemingly bigamous 
marriage with her, and puqlidy flaunt~g their relationship. 

Third and Fourth Counts of Grossly 
Immoral Conduct: Respondent sexually. 
harassed his employees and si~bordinates. 

67 Executive Order No. 209, The F'mnily Code of the ]:'hil.ippine,; (1987). 
68 Borja-lvfmtzano v_ Judge S,.:mchez, 406 Phil. ·434, 439(2001) [Per J. Davide Jr., First Division]. 
69 Rollo, p. 206. • 
70 Id. at 275-276. 
71 See Aquino v. Aquino, G.R. Nv;_ +:039!2 & 209018, Dece1nber 7, 2021 lPer J. Leonen, En Banc]; 

Diaz v. Intermediate Appellate C.ouh, 215 t Pl1il. 542 (i990) [Perl Paras, En Banc]; Corpus v. 
Corpus, 175 Phil. 64 (1978) [Per J. Aqm110,.Sc,cor1d Division]; CH.')' v. Fahie, 68 Phil. 128 (1939) 
[ Per J. Concepdon, En Banc}. 

72 Rollo, pp. 201-205. • • • 
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Apart from his e:x.'irarnarital relations, the Court also finds 
respondent administratively liable for two more counts of Grossly 
Immoral Conduct- for having sexuaily harassed AAA, his house helper, 
and DDD, his law secretary., 

Relevantly, Section 3(a)(3)73 of Republic Act No. 787774 provides 
that sexual harassment is committed by an employer who, having 
authority, influence, or ·moral· ascendancy over another in a work 
environment, demands, requests, or otherwise requires any sexual favor 
from the other, when the acts committed would, among others, result in 
an intimidating, hostile, or offensive environment for the employee. An 
act or conduct of a sexual nature for purposes of sexual gratification, 
which is ge:nerally annoying, disgusting, or offensive to the victim, is a 
form of sexual harassment. 75 Gestures with lewd insinuation, lurid 
remarks, the use of objects, pictures, graphics, letters, or written notes with 
sexual underpinnings, and other ' circumstances analogous to the 
foregoing, are also recognized forms of sexual harassment. 76 

73 Republic Act No. 7877, (1995) prov ides. 
SECTION 3. Work, Education • or Training-related Sexual Harassment Defined. - Work, 
education or training-related sexual harassment is committed by an employer, employee, manager, 
supervisor, agent of the employer,, teacher, instructor, professor, coach, trainor, or any other person 
who, having authority, influence or moral ascendancy over another in a work or training or 
education environment, demands, requests or otherwise requires any sexual favor from the other, 
regardless of whether the demand, request or requirement for submission is accepted by the object 
of said act. 
(a) In a work-related or employment environment, sexual harai:;sment is committed when: 

(3) The above acts would result in an i.TJ.timidating, hostile, or offensive environment for the 
employee. 

74 "Anti-Sexual Harassment Act of 1995." 
75 See Department of Labor and Employn.tent (bOLE) Administrative Order No. 250-95, Rule IV 

sec. 1, which reads: 
SECTION l:Forms of Sexual Harassment. -- Sexual harassment may be committed in any of 
the following forms: • 
a) Overt sexual advances; 
b) Unwelcome or improper gestures of affection; 
c) Request ot demand for sexi_1al favors including bqt not limited to going out on dates, outings 
or the like for the same purpose; • 
d) Any other act or conduct of a sexual nature or t1}r purpqses of sexual gratification which is 
generally a,,:noying, disgusting or offeusive to the victim. 

76 See Administrative Matter No. 03-03-13-SC &ec. 4, which 'Wi:l.S applied by the Court in holding a 
lawyer administratively liable for gros0ly immoral conduct in f,~'1ldez v. Atty, Dabon, 773 Phil. l 09, 
136-137(2015). The Supreme Couri, issi:mnce relevantly states: 
SECTION 4. Work-related Sexual harassment; how commirted. - Work-related sexual 
harassment is c:orilmittcd when: 
(a) The sexual favor is made as a condition ui the hiring or i:r1 the empioyment, re-employment 
or continued employment· of suid • i11dividuaL or in granting said individual favorable 
compensation, ·terms, conditions, promoiions, t)r privileges; ()r the refusal to grant the sexual 
favor results in HmitiI1g; segregating m classifying the empkayee which in any way would 
discriminate, deprive· or diminish empfoyment opp0rttmities or oihenvise adversely affect said 
employee. It shaH include, but sh,tll not bi:' limited to, the followi?g modes: 



Decision 16 A.C. No. 13496 [Formerly CBD 
Case No. 18-5681] 

In this regard, the Court has held that the _sexual.harassment of an 
employee amounts to immoral conduct. Thus,. the Court has disbarred a 
lawyer for Grossly Immoral Concit1ct after he repeatedly made unwanted 
calls and messages to his fewale employee for them t.9 continue their illicit 
sexual affair.77 The· Court has further decreed that unwanted sexual . . -
remarks·, even if made il).·.,j'est, -amount to sexual harassment and are 
grounds for administrative· liability.~8 A lawyer was also found 
administrative _liable for Grc)ssly Immoral Conduct after he repeatedly sent 
flirtatious text messages to his former students, made sexual remarks to 
them during class, and even show~d 'them a photograph of a naked woman, 
which made the students uncomfortable.79 Likewise, in another case, the 
Court found ~ lawyer guilty of Grossly Immoral Conduct for habitually 
watching pornographic materials in his office while in the vicinity of his 
then secretary, and repeatedly making sexual advances to his secretary by 
holding and kissing her hands, caressing her at the waist, and offering • 
money to her in exchange for sex. 80 

In the case at bar, there is certainly substantial evidence proving 
that respondent comn1itted_ acts constituting sexual harassment against 
AAA, his house helper, and DDD, his law secretary. Indeed, respondent 
himself admitted that he -engaged in the distasteful conduct of showing 
pornographic materials to his form.er employees, AAA and DDD. He 
further admitted that he engaged in.sexually-charged conversations with 
his employees, including AAA, EEE, and FFF. 

The Court emphasizes_that A_i\A and DDD are respondent's house 
helper and law secretary, respectively: thus, respondent was their superior 
and he exercised ascendancy over them. Given the • situation, his 
employ~es . could not be reasonably expected, to be vocal about their 
discomfort against respondent's behavior. Plainly, these women remained 
silent and continued to engage with respondent even though they may 
have felt sexually harassed by him because their employment was at stake. 

l. Physical, such as malicious touching, overt sexual advances, and gestures with lewd 
insinuation. 
2. Verbal, such as requests or ~lemr.;nds for sexual favors, and lurid remarks. 
3. Use of objects, pictures or graphics, letters or written notes with sexual underpinnings. 
4. Other acts analogous to the foi·egoing. 

(b) The above acts would impair the employee's rights or privileges under existing laws; or 
( c) The above acts would result in ai;, imimidating, hostile or cffensiv,e environment for the 
employee. - • • 

77 See Valdez v. Dahon, Jr., 773-PhiL 109, ]36-139 (2015) [Per Curium, En Banc]. 
78 Diomampo v. Laribo, Jr., 687 Phil. 47,53- 51-(2012) ['Per J. Carpio, Second Division]. 
79 Re: Anonym,'Jus Cmnplaint againsUtty. Untian, 85 ! PhiL 352, 362:-364 (2019) [Per J. Reyes Jr., 

EnBanc]-
so Reyes v. Atty. Nieva, 794 Phil._360, 380-381 (WHi) [Per J. Perlas-Bernabe, En Banc]. 
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As the Court hel9- in PhfL Aeolus Autornotive United Corp. v. NLRC,81 

rather than jeopardizing their employment, many victims of sexual 
harassment in the workplace would rather er:idure their ordeal and consider 
their employer's conduct as mere,''occupational hazard," for few people 
are privileged to e3;sily tr9-n;,_iti9n trom o:p__e ~mployment to another. 

~ ~ . . . - ~ ~ 

- ... • ·.' .. 
Respondent questions the, :credibility of his present and former 

employees because • they allegea:Iy executed their respective judicial 
affidavits only out of pity- fQr complainant.-However, other than his naked 
averment, no evidence supports his allegation. As between the verified 
statements of the \vonien in their respective Judicial Affidavits made 
under oath,_82 on the one· hand, and respondent.' s ,bc!l'e denial, on the other, 
the former must be given greater weight. 83 To be sure, when there are 
conflicting statements on record, and one was made under oath while the 
other was not, the former must prevail. 84 

The Court's cqnclusion is further supported by the PPO, which 
incontrovertibly directed respondent to ''seek and receive professional 
counseling from agencies or persons who have demonstrated expertise 
and experience in treating sex offenders[.r85 Pertinently, this statement in 
the PPO was never disputed or qualified by-respondent. 

81 387 Phil. 250, 264 (2000) [Per J. Bellosillo, Second Division], where the Court relevantly ruled: 
We are not persuaded. 111e gravamen of the offense in sexual harassment is not the violation of the 
employee's_ sexuality but ths: abuse of po_wer by the employer. Any employee, male or female, may 
rightfully cry "fiml" prpvided _the claim is well substantiated. Strktly speaking, there is no time 
period within which he or she is expected fo complain through the proper cha:tinels. The time to do 
so may vary: depe:rfding up::m· the needs, circumstances, and more importantly, the emotional 
thresholdorthe employee. 
Private respondent admittediy allowed four (4) years to pass before finally coming out with her 
employer's sexual imposition.$. Not many women, e,;pecially in this country, are made of the stuff 
that can endure the agony and trauma of R public, ev~n corporate, scandal. If petitioner corporation 
had not issm:d the third memorandum that terminated the services of ptivate respondent, we could 
only speculate how much long~r she vvould keep her silence. Moreover,few persons are privileged 
indeed to transfer from one employ-er to another. The. dearth of quality employment has become a 
daily "monster" roaming the streets that 011i? m<})' not be expected to give up one's employment 
easily but to hang on to it, so to~~peak, by afj tolerable means. Perhaps, to private respondent's 
mind, for as long as she could .Qutvvit her employer's ploys she woulJ continue on her job and 
consider them ai: mere occupational hazards. This uneasmess in her place of work thrived in an 
atmosphere of tolerance for-four (4) year,,, and one could only imagine the prevailing anxiety and 
resentment, ifncJt ~jtt~mess, that h,,set her aU that time ... (ltaiics supplied) 

82 People v. Toledo and Hofg,-uio, Si Phi). $25, 814 (1928) {Per J. Malcolm, En Banc]. 
83 See Naranjo v. Bzomedica He_o,lth-Car.::, fnc., 695 Phi!.,551, 571-572 (2012)[Per J. Velasco, Third 

Division]; and Tolentino v, A.tty. lvfend&za, 483 Phi!. 546, 553-555 (2004) [Per J. Austria-Martinez, 
En Banc]. • 

84 Tolentino v. Atty. l'vfendoza, 48] .Phil. 541\ 5:53-554 (2004) J:Per J. Austia-Ma,.'1:inez, En Banc]. 
85 Rollo, p.46. 



<. ,,, 

Decision 18 A.C. No.13496 [Formerly CBD 
Case No. 18-5681] 

It must be pointed out that, during the mandatory conference with 
the Investigating Commissioner of the IBP, respondent made it appear that 
he was able to contact the women who executed their Judicial Affidavits 
in support of the present Complaint. Clearly, he could have requested the 
said women to recant their statements or modify their Judicial Affidavits 
to support respondent's cause, but they did not do so. The absence of such 
evidence in favor of respondent may only be taken against him. 

In view of the foregoing, respondent is found guilty of two (2) 
separate counts of Grossly Immoral Conduct for his acts constituting 
sexual harassment of his two employees, AAA and DDD. The offenses 
must be characterized as gross, considering that respondent's conduct 
may even constitute as criminal acts of sexual harassment under Section 
3(a)(3) of Republic ActNo. 7877. 

The offenses must also be separately counted because Section 33(±) 
of Canon VI states that grossly immoral conduct is an "act that is so 
corrupt or false as to constitute a criminal act." Here, respondent's 
violations were committed upon two women and on different occasions. 
Hence, they must be counted as two separate offenses of Grossly Immoral 
Conduct. 

Penalties 

Canon VI, Section 33 of the CPRA, states that Grossly Immoral 
Conduct is a serious offense. Under Section 37, thereof, a serious offense 
is sanctioned with any, or a combination, of the following penalties: (1) 
disbarment; (2) suspension from the practice oflaw for a period exceeding 
six (6) months; (3) revocation of notarial commission and disqualification 
as notary public for not less than two (2) years; or ( 4) a fine exceeding 
PHP 100,000.00. Significantly, the Court has held that the most severe 
penalty of disbarment will be imposed only in clear cases of misconduct, 
duly supported by substantial evidence1 

86 that seriously affect the standing 
and character of the lawyer as an officer of the court. 87 

sG Arsenio v. Atty. Tabuzo, 809 PhiI..206 (2017) [Per J. Tijain, Third Division}, citing Reyes v. Atty. 
Nieva, 794 Phil. 360 (2016) [J. Perlas-Bernabe, En Banc]. 

87 Heck v. Judge Santos, 467 Phil. 798, 826 (2004) [Per J. CaHejo. En Bancl-



_'. ! ·-··-. 

Decision 19 A.C. No. 13496 [Formerly CBD 
Case No. 18-5681] 

Pursuant to Sectiqn 40,88 ~anon VI of the Code of Professional 
Responsibility and-Accountability, separate-penalties for the four counts 
of Grossly Immoral ·conduct coinmitted by respondent must be imposed. 

For the first count of'Grossly Immoral- Conduct consisting of 
respondent's flagrant engagement in multiple extramarital relations while 
married to complainant and before their legal separation on March 20, 
2018, the Court finds that the supreme penalty of disbarment is proper. As 
earlier mentioned, a lawyer may be disbarred for engaging in extramarital 
relations with several people, 89 and when he demonstrates a cavalier 
attitude towards his violat~on of his m·arital vows.90 The Courts holds that 
these circumstances are present in the case at bar, thereby warranting the 
imposition of the penalty of disbarment upon respondent. 

As to the second count of Grossly Immoral Conduct consisting of 
respondent's apparent bigamous marriage to HRH on June 5, 2021, 
publicly flaunting their relationship, and siring two illegitimate children 
with her despite his subsisting marriage to complainant, disbarment would 
be the appropriate penalty, a.sin other similar cases.91 

As to the third and fourth counts of Grossly Immoral Conduct 
pertaining to .responde:nt' s sex_ua} . harassment of his employees and 
subordinates, namely, _A.I\A and DDD, the Court notes that in previous 
cases similarly involv_ing sexual harassment by lawyers, the penalty of 
suspension from the practice of law for a period ranging from two to five 
years had been imposed.92 

88 Canon VI sec. 40 provides: 
SECTION 40. Penalty for Multiple Offe,wes. -· If the respondent is found liable for more than 
one (1) offense arising from separate acts or omissions in a single administrative proceeding, the 
Court shall impose separate penalties for each offense. Should t,1.e aggregate of the imposed 
penalties exceed five {5) years [)f sm,pemion from the practice oflaw or Pl,000,000.00 in frnes, 
the respondent may, in t,he discretion of the Supreme Court, be meted with the penalty of 
disbarment. 
If a single act or omission gives ri.se 1;, more ,ban one (1) offense, the respondent shall still be 
found liable for all such .offonses, but shai!, ·nonethdess, only be meted with the appropriate 
penalty for the most serious ofiens.;;. 

89 Dantes v. ~4tty. Dantes, 482 PhiL 641 71--77. (2004) [I'er Curiarn, En Banc]. 
90 Saludares v. Saludores, A.C. Nn, l.0612, Jan.Hary 31, 2023 f Per Curfam, En Banc]. 
91 Guevarra-Cast,'/ v. Atty. Trinidad A.C:. l'Jo. 10294, .Juiy 12, 2022; Panagsagan v. Atty. 

Panagsagan,S64 PhiL 1?, 27(2019) [Per Ciu-·iam, £,1 Banc].; Dr. Perezv. Atty. Caiindig, 755 Phil. 
297, 309 (2015) lPer Curir:tm, En Banc] .. ·' , 

92 Re: Anonymous Comp{aint agaiti:sl ,4.t(i' [/ntian. 851 Phil, 353, 362-364 (2019) [Per J. Reyes, 
En Banc]; Re:res v. Att.y. Nieva, 794 ?lJiL360, 381 4)016) [Per J. Perlas-Bernabe, En Banc]. 
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Hence, suspensi_on from ~h~ practice oflaw for a period of two years 
for each of the. third· and ,.fo_urth counts of Grossly Immoral Conduct 
committed by respondent is ap2ropriate. Still, the penalties must further 
be determined by. appr~c~atip.g sev.~ral aggravating circumstances extant 
in the case, pursuant to SeGtions --3 8-93 :and 3 9, 94 Canon VI of the Code of 
Professional Responsibilify and Acc01;mtability. . 

~ • • • - • ( • ;. • L, • . ., -- • -

First, several of the·0w0men~victims who submitted their Judicial 
Affidavits in support ofthe Complaint were particularly vulnerable, being 
house helpers and/or storekeepers who previously worked for respondent. 
In fact, CCC, EEE, and FFF were all _working students and. sorely needed 
to retain their employment with the Spouses· for them to continue their 
studies. CCC's family was even indebted to the Spouses. Plainly, the 
women were relying on their income from their employment with the 
Spouses to support their education and pay their expenses. The economic 
disparity between respondent and these women therefore made 
respondent's grossly immoral conduct especially egregious. 

Second, the Court notes that the allegations of sexual harassment 
against respondent by • the six women who executed their Judicial 
Affidavits· in support of the present Complaint date back to as early as 
2009. The length of time and the number of women who have voiced out 
their concerns against respondent,. taken together with the PPO and 
respondent's admissions, support the conclusion that respondent has 

93 SECTION 38. Modifying Circymstance:s. - In determining the appropriate penalty to be 
imposed, _the Court. may, in its. discretion, appreciate the following mitigating and aggravating 
circumstances: • 

(b) Aggravating Circumstances: 
(1) Finding of previous administrative liability where a penalty is imposed, regardless of nature 
or gravity; · 
(2) Age; . .. 
(3) Number of years in 1.he practice c•flaw; 
(4) Employment offraudt1-lent means to conceal foe. offense, 
(5) Respondent's act or omission was tc1inted with bad faith or rnafa;;e,.except when it is an element 
of the offense; 
(6) Lack ofr~morse; 
(7) Failure to compiy wit½ the orcfors of the Court and the IBP in relation to an administrative 
case; and • 
(8) Other analogous circun1;.tartte. 

94 SECTION 39. Manner oflmpositio,1. -- ff one (l) x more aggravating circumstances and no 
mitigating circu,i1sm..'10c:s are prt'Se11t, tht, Stfpreme Court may im.pose the penalties of suspension 
or fme for a period or·ili"1lout1t.not ;;:xcce.,Iing <louble of the maximllITl prescribed under this Rule. 
The Supreme_ Court may, in i!s ,;J.i_si:-rf.t~un, impose the penalty of disba.nr1ent depending on the 
number and.gravity ofth.e 2..ggra,:i.1ti.ri c,rctfrnsta:nccs. 
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committed sexual harassment against his current and former employees 
on numerous instances. 

Under Canon VI, Section 3 9, of the CPRA, if one or more 
aggravating circumstances and no mitigating circumstances are present, 
the Court may impose the penalties of suspension or fine for a period or 
amount not exceeding double of the maximum prescribed under the Rule. 

Hence, the peJ:?-alties to be imposed against respondent must be 
increased to suspen$ion from the_ practice of law for a period of three years 
for the third count of Qrossly Immoral Conduct, and suspension from the 
practice of law for a period· of three years for the fourth count of Grossly 
Immoral Conduct. 

Considering respondent's disbarment for the first count of Grossly 
Immoral Conduct, the Court may no longer impose the foregoing penalties 
for the second, third, and fourth courits of Grossly Immoral Conduct. 
Nonetheless, the Court must still provide the appropriate penalties for the 
sole purpose of recording it in respondent's personal file with the Office 
of the Bar Confidant, which shall be taken into account and seriously 
considered in the ·event that respondent subsequently files a petition to lift 
his disbarment,95 or when he applies for judicial clemency.96 Certainly, 
the fact that respondent committed multiple serious infractions amounting 
to grossly immoral conduct reflects his deprfvity and poor prospects for 
rehabilitation. 91 • 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the_ Court may still impose the 
penalty of fine against respondent for each_ of the three succeeding counts 
of Grossly Immoral Conduct he committed beca!,l_Se the Court does not 
lose its exclusive jurisdiction over other offenses committed by a 
disbarred lawyer • while he or she was still a member of the law 
profession. 98 

Thus, for the second count of Grossly Immoral Conduct, the Court 
deems it proper to impose the penalty of fine in the amount of 

95 Fernando v. Pallugna, A.C. No. 9338, Febrnary 20, 2023 fPer J. Lopez, Second Division], citing 
Valinonte v. Atty. Quesada, 367-PhH. 247,252 (2019) [Per J. Hernando, Second Division]. 
See Jumalon v. Dela Rosa, A,C. N0, 9288, J.:muwy j l, 2◊23 [Per Curiam, En Banc], and Office of 
the Provincial Prosecutor c:fCa:,,fre \'. fvfa{J, A.C. No. 8219. August 29, 2023 [Per J. Dimamampao, 
EnBanc]. • • • 

97 Id_ 
98 Fernando v. Pcdlugna,. A.C. No. 9338. February 20, 2023 [Per J. Lopez, Second Division], citing 

Valmonte v. Atty, Quesada, 867 PhiL 247, 2 52 (2019) [P~r J. Hernando, Second Division]. 
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PHP 100,001.00, there being no aggravating or mitigating circumstance 
for this offe~se. For the third and fourth counts, the Court finds it proper 
to impose a fine in the amount of PHP 150,000.00 against respondent for 
each of the third and fourth counts of Grossly Immoral Conduct, 
considermg the -presence of ·aggtavating ·circumstances, as discussed 
above. • ; • /_ ··: • • 

• In- ·_ all, fines in. th~ • f qllowing {nnounts arie imposed against 
respondent: (1) PHP 100,001.00forthe second countjofGrossly Immoral 
Conduct; (2) Pf-IP 150,000.00 for the third count 0f Grossly Immoral 
Conduct; and (3) PHP 150,000;00 for the fourth count of Grossly Immoral 

. . . . • I • 

Conduct, or fines in the total aggregate amount of PHP 400,001.00. 
! 

All told, the Court finds it proper to impose against respondent the 
penalties of disbarment and fines in the total amoun~ of PHP 400,001.00 

I 

for his transgressions. His behavior shows a mani~est disregard of the 
Constitution and the Philippine laws on marriage and sexual harassment. 
The evidence and the parties' submission, taken tokether, substantially 
demonstrate respondent's lack -of ·moral- ·uprightnes$ to continue in the 
legal profession as a member of the Bai and an officr of the court 

ACCORDINGLY, the Court finds responde t Atty. LoveJoy B. 
Quiambao GUILTY of four· counts of Grossly Immoral Conduct 
committed in violation of the Code of Professiona Responsibility and 
Accountability, Canon II, Sections 1 and 2, and Can n III, Section 2. The 
Court imposes the fo~lowing penalties against him: 

1. DISBARMENT for the first count cf Grossly Immoral 
Conduct, effective upon receipt of this • ecision. The Court 
thus ORDERS his name stricken off t e Roll of Attorneys 
for the first .cou11;t; -. 

2. -· DISBARMENT for the second count of Grossly Immoral 
Conduct; 

3. SUSPEN-SION frmri the practice of law for a period of three 
years for the third cotJnt of Grossly Immoral Conduct; and 

4. SUSPENSION" from thepr[tctice of law for a period of three 
years for the :fuurth iount of Grossly Immoral Conduct. 
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Considering that respondent is already disbarred for the first count 
of Grossly Immoral Conduct, the pen~lties for the second, third, and fourth 
counts of Grossly Immoral Conduct may no longer be imposed but should 
nonetheless be considered in • the • event that respondent applies for 
reinstatement or judicial clemency. 

~ ~ . . . 

Further, in view of his disbarment for the first count, the Court 
imposes the penalties of FINES in the amount ofPHP 100,001.00 for the 
second count, PHP 150,000.00 for the third count, and PHP 150,000.00 
for the fourth count~ or a total aggrega~e of fines in ·the amount of 
PHP 400,001.00. 

Let copies of this Decision be furnished to the Office of the Bar 
Confidant for immediate implementation, the Office of the Court 
Administrator for dissemination to all courts of the country, and the 
Integrated Bar of the Philippines for its information and guidance. 

SO ORDERED. 

~~. A1"1Y 
Associate Justice 
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HE 

(On Official Leave) 
MARIO V. LOPEZ 

Associate Justice 

~~_,.~ >N'IO T. KHO, JR. 
Associate Justice . 
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Associate Justice 

JHOS~OPEZ 
Associate Justice 

~~ 
J~AS P. MARQUEZ 
~~~iate Justice 
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